1979

State of Utah v. Thomas Wyman Berg : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF THE NATURE OF THE CASE

Defendant-appellant appeals from his conviction by the Honorable George E. Ballif, Fourth District Judge, sitting without jury, of the offense of distribution of a controlled substance where nothing for value was exchanged. He further appeals from the Court's failure to find that the State's principal witness against him was his accomplice and from the Court's failure to require corroboration of the accomplices testimony.

DISPOSITION IN THE LOWER COURT

Appellant was found guilty on May 25, 1979 by the Honorable George E. Ballif of a violation of Section 58-37-8 (1) A (c), Utah Code Annotated (1953), distributing a controlled substance, marijuana, where nothing for value was exchanged.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Appellant seeks a reversal of the lower Court's decision that the State's principal witness against him was not his accomplice and that

in any event her testimony need not have been corroborated because of the changes made in Section 77-31-18, U.C.A. (1953) by the 1978 Legislature. In the event that the lower Court's decisions reversed, appellant requests that the charges against him be dismissed because the evidence against him was insufficient to sustain a conviction.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On January 16, 1979, appellant was charged by complaint with having committed the offense of distribution of a controlled substance, marijuana, where noting of value was exchanged. The offense was alleged to have taken place on November 21, 1978 (Record-11). On information charging that offense was subsequently filed in the Fourth Judicial District Court (R-11). On May 8, 1979, former Section 77-31-18 (all statutory citations are to Utah Code Annotated unless otherwise noted) was repealed and a new section 77-31-18 took effect. The new section provides that, "(a) conviction may be had on the uncorroborated testimony of an accomplice." On May 24, 1979, appellant's trial was held before the Honorable George E. Ballif. The appellant waived his right to a jury trial, stipulated to the admission of certain evidence, and the State proceeded to call three witnesses.

The first witness was one Jill Hales. Ms. Hales testified that she knew the defendant and that she had met with him in his home on the morning of November 21, 1978 to acquire some "stuff" for a friend (T-14). Ms. Hales was accompanied by a Teri Barney. Ms. Hales testified that she and the appellant had a conversation out of the presence of Ms. Barney that morning, (T-15). The appellant said, "I have got this for you," (T-16), indicating a pound of marijuana "sitting in the living room." Ms. Hales said she put the marijuana in her purse and said she would bring money back later, but no

definite arrangements for payment were made (T-17). No payment was in fact ever made. Ms. Hales then stated that pursuant to a pre-arranged plan with a Craig Wiseman, she drove to a local restaurant and put the marijuana in Wiseman's car (T-18). Teri Barney accompanied her. Wiseman then paid Hales for the marijuana (T-19). Upon leaving the restaurant parking lot, Hales was arrested (T-20). Hales was told by the officers at the police station that she had the choice to either become a paid undercover narcotics informant or else she would go to prison and lose custody of her little girl (T-22, 33-35, 39). She opted to become an informant and charges were in fact dropped against her pursuant to a grant of immunity she received in exchange for her testimony in this case, (T-30). She was wired with an electronic listening device and returned to the appellant's home, where she thought that the appellant may have asked her if the police had got "it" (T-23). No tape or transcript of their conversation was ever introduced into evidence.

The State's second witness was Teri Barney, the woman who had accompanied Hales to the appellant's home and then to the Wiseman car. She testified that she had no heard any conversation between the appellant and Hales on November 21, 1978 (T-45). She said that she and Hales left the Berg home in her car and Hales asked her to drive by the restaurant (T-46). When they arrived there, Hales took a plastic package out of her purse which Barney believed to be marijuana. No one ever told her if it was or not (T-47). Ms. Barney did not know if Hales had taken the purse into the appellant's home, she did not know how long the marijuana had been in the purse, Hales never opened the purse and showed her the contents before or after they went to the appellant's home, and they in fact never even discussed what she had in the purse (T-50), or why they were going to the restaurant (T-51). Hales then took the plastic package, wrapped it in a windbreaker, and put the wrapped

package in Wiseman's car (T-48).

The State's final witness was Craig Wiseman. Wiseman testified that he had asked Hales to get him "a pound," (T-54). He also said that he had seen Hales arrive at the restaurant and had paid her a sum of money (T-56). Wiseman later found the marijuana in the back seat of the car (T-57).

The appellant chose to rest without presenting any testimony. He argued that Hales was an accomplice and as such her testimony required corroboration. Appellant contended that corroboration was absent or insufficient and thus he should have been found not guilty. The Court took the matter under advisement (T-63-79)

On May 25, 1979 the Court issued a memorandum decision finding the appellant guilty, (R-21-23). The Court based its decision on State v. Kasai, 27 v.2d 326, 495 P.2d 1265 (1972) and State v. Comish, 560 P.2d 1134 (Utah 1977). It also based its decision on the enactment of House Bill 143, now Section 77-31-18, providing that a conviction may be had on the uncorroborated testimony of an accomplice, (R-23) .

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE APPLICATION OF THE NEW SECTION 77-31-18 TO THIS CASE WAS CONTRARY TO THE EX POST FACTO PROVISIONS OF THE STATE AND FEDERAL CONSTITUTIONS AND CONTRARY TO UTAH LAW.

If this Court concludes that the lower Court was correct in applying to this case the version of Section 77-31-18 which took effect on May 8, 1979, it need not reach the issues of whether or not the witness Hales was an accomplice of the appellant or whether her testimony was corroborated because such issues would be superfluous. The new Section now permits the conviction of a defendant on the uncorroborated testimony of an accomplice. However, the lower court erred when it applied the new accomplice statute to this

action. The application of the new statute was prohibited by the State and Federal Constitutions as well as State law.

The events which gave rise to the proceedings against the appellant were alleged to have occurred on November 21, 1978. On that day, and when the information was filed in January, 1979, the accomplice statute provided,

" A conviction shall not be had on the testimony of an accomplice, unless he is corroborated by other evidence which in itself and without the aid of the testimony of the accomplice tends to connect the defendant with the commission of the offense; and the corroboration shall not be sufficient, if it merely shows the commission of the offense or the circumstances thereof."

On May 24, 1979, the case went to trial. The lower court, in finding the appellant guilty, applied the accomplice statute which had taken effect 16 days earlier, providing that, " a conviction may be had on the uncorroborated testimony of an accomplice," Section 77-31-18. The application of the new Section violated constitutional restraints on ex post facto laws.

The constitutional prohibitions of ex post facto laws are contained in Article I, Section 10 of the United States Constitution and Article I, Section 18 of the Utah Constitution. The former states, "no state shall ... pass any ... ex post facto law," while the latter commands that, " no ... ex post facto law ... shall be passed." The United States Supreme Court, in Calder v. Bull, 3 Dall. 386 (1778), gave the term "ex post facto law" a definition which has endured nearly 200 years,

" 1st, every law that makes an action done before the passing of the law; and which was innocent when done, criminal; and punishes such action. 2nd, every law that advocates a crime, or makes it greater than it was when committed. 3d, every law that changes the punishment, and inflicts a greater punishment, than the law annexed to the crime when committed. 4th, every law that alters the legal rules of evidence and receives less or different testimony, than the law required at the time of the commission of the offense in order to convict the offender. All these and similar laws, are manifestly unjust and oppressive,"

The Court's explanation in Calder v. Bull was refined in Hopt v. Utah, 110 U.S. 574 (1883). Hopt was a homicide case. At the time of the homicide, the Utah Territory had a law which forbade testimony by convicted felons. After the indictment, but prior to the trial, the legislature repealed the law. Subsequently, the appellant was convicted. His conviction in part rested upon the testimony of a convicted felon who would not have been permitted to testify under the law in effect at the time the offense was committed. The appellant argued that permitting the convicted felon to testify against him amounted to an ex post facto application of law. The Court rejected his contention, stating, " Statutes which simply enlarge the class of persons who may be competent to testify in criminal cases are not ex post facto in their application to prosecutions for crimes committed prior to their passage; for they do not ... alter the degree, or lessen the amount or measure of the proof which was made necessary to conviction when the crime was committed." Id., 110 U.S. 574, 589. In contrast, the Court warned, "Any statutory alteration of the legal rules of evidence which would authorize conviction upon less proof, in amount or degree, than was required when the offence was committed, might, in respect of that offence, be obnoxious to the constitutional inhibition upon ex post facto laws, " Id., 110 U.S. 574, 590.

In the present case, the change in the accomplice statute on May 8, did not merely, "enlarge the class of persons who may be competent to testify," Hopt v. Utah, supra. Accomplices have always been competent witnesses under the old statute. Instead, the change in the statute authorized "conviction upon less proof, in amount or degree, than was required when the offence was committed," Id. Under the law in effect at the time of the offense, the

Court observed,

" ... the law should not be changed simply because of the will or desire of judges as to what the law is or ought to be. Much less so, should it be so changed during the course of a particular proceeding to have a retroactive effect thereon ... If there is to be such a change in the law ... it seems that it should have only prospective effect and that fairness and good conscience require that it should not be applied retroactively to adversely affect rights as they existed at the time a particular controversy arose," 569 P.2d 1100, 1102 .

It is apparent that the Court below erred when it failed to apply the old accomplice statute and require corroboration of the Hales testimony. However, even under the old statute, corroboration would not be required if Hales was not an accomplice.

POINT II

THE STATE'S PRINCIPAL WITNESS, HALES, WAS AN ACCOMPLICE.

The principal witness against the appellant was Jill Hales. She merits that designation because hers was the only testimony to connect him with the commission of an offense. If she were not an accomplice her testimony alone might be sufficient to sustain a conviction. However, because she was an accomplice her testimony should have been corroborated.

An "accomplice" has been variously defined as "one who is or could be charged as a principal with the defendant on trial, i.e. one who is liable to prosecution for the identical offense charged against the defendant on trial," State v. Kasai, 27 U.2d. 326, 327, 495 P.2d. 1265, 1266 (1972); or "one who participates in a crime in such a way that he could be tried and charged for the same offense," State v. Comish, 560 P.2d. 1134 (Utah 1977). Under Utah law, one can be "charged as a principal" when he or she, "acting with the mental state required for the commission of an offense ... solicits,

requests, commands, encourages, or intentionally aid another person to engage in conduct which constitutes an offense ..., " Section 76-2-202.

A superficial examination of State v. Kasai, supra, might lead the Court to conclude that Hales was not an accomplice of the appellant. The Court should not make that mistake. Kasai said, "The purchaser of narcotics is not an accomplice of the seller, as the offense of the purchaser is "possession" and not "selling" and, therefore the conviction of a defendant may be founded on the purchaser's uncorroborated testimony," 495 P.2d 1265, 1266. This phrase has no great significance for the present appeal because it is obsolete and may have only been erroneous or unnecessary dictum.

Unlike Kasai, the present case does not involve a "sale" or a "purchase" but rather a distribution without value. The mental state for that offense required the appellant to act "knowingly and intentionally." Hales, acting with the same mental state, "solicited, requested, and encouraged" the appellant to commit the offense by calling him and asking him to procure marijuana for her friend and then going to his home to obtain it. She even "intentionally aided" him to commit the offense by actually accomplishing the distribution element of the offense herself when she walked over to where the marijuana lay and picked it up. Her actions would permit her to be charged as a principal under Section 76-2-202. She would also be an accomplice, because an "accomplice" is "a person who could be charged as a principal with the defendant on trial," State v. Davie, 121 U. 184, 240 P.2d 263 (1952). Section 76-2-202, which broadened the definition of those who could be charged as principals, took effect the year after the Kasai decision and made such narrow concepts as "buyer" and "seller" obsolete.

Kasai may also have been wrongly decided. Appellant suggests that the reason the buyer was held not to be an accomplice of the seller was not merely because he was the "buyer" but rather because he was an undercover policeman. As such, he could hardly be said to be acting with the mental state required for the commission of the offense or any offense for that matter so as a matter of law he could not be an accomplice. He was merely offering Mr. Kasai the opportunity to commit a crime and considerations of who was the buyer and who the seller were irrelevant.

Appellant's position is supported by State v. Comish , 560 P.2d 1134 (Utah 1977). There the court was again presented with an undercover police officer who had purchased narcotics. The defendant again contended that the officer was an accomplice whose testimony required corroboration. The Court rejected this argument, not because the officer was a buyer, but because the definition of accomplice " ... does not include a person who, without using inducement or persuasion which would amount to entrapment, merely provides an opportunity for one who is disposed to commit a crime. More specifically applicable here, a person so acting under the direction of a peace officer in attempting to discover violations of law, is not an accomplice," 560 P.2d 1134, 1136. Comish dispensed with the distinction between buyer and seller drawn in Kasai and recognized the true reason a police buyer is not an accomplice, he does not have the requisite criminal intent.

In the present case, the witness Hales was not a police officer, agent, or even a buyer. Acting with the same mental state as alleged to be present in the plaintiff, she aided, solicited, and encouraged the appellant to commit the offense of distribution of a controlled substance where nothing

of value was exchanged. Her actions made her liable as a principal under Section 76-2-202 and as such, she was an accomplice whose testimony required corroboration.

POINT III

HALES TESTIMONY WAS NOT SUFFICIENTLY CORROBORATED

It has long been the rule that the, " ... corroborating evidence must implicate the defendant in the offense and be consistent with his guilt and inconsistent with his innocence, and must do more than cast a grave suspicion upon him, and all of this must be without the aid of the testimony of the accomplice," State v. Erwin, 101 U. 365, 120 P.2d 285 (1941). In this case there was no sufficient corroboration.