1980

State of Utah v. Thomas Wyman Berg : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY RULED THAT THE STATE'S KEY WITNESS, JILL HALES, WAS NOT APPELLANT'S ACCOMPLICE.

The major thrust of appellant's appeal (and, indeed, the entire basis of the Amicus Curiae brief filed in conjunction with this case) is that Judge Ballif im-

properly applied the new accomplice statute, Utah Code Ann. § 77-31-18 (1979), to the present matter. Yet, this basic premise ignores the fundamental finding of Judge Ballif that Jill Hales was not appellant's accomplice and her testimony alone, could therefore convict appellant. Because of this conclusion, the new accomplice statute was not relied on in admitting the testimony of Jill Hales. Ms. Hales' testimony is a complete and inculpatory indictment against appellant and was sufficient to convict appellant of the crime charged. Since Judge Ballif ruled Ms. Hales was not an accomplice the possible retroactive application of the new accomplice statute is not at issue. Respondent submits that Judge Ballif's decision (R.21-23) that Ms. Hales was not an accomplice is a logical, accurate ruling. In dicta, Judge Ballif called attention to the fact that a new trend in the area of criminal accomplice law is developing as evidenced by the Utah Legislature's enactment of the new accomplice statute. Clearly, if Judge Ballif had relied on the new accomplice statute in his decision it would have been inconsistent and unnecessary to rule that Ms. Hales was not appellant's accomplice. Respondent submits that the decision that Ms. Hales was

not appellant's accomplice was sound and justified. Utah Code Ann. § 76-2-202 (1953), as amended, outlines the requirements one must meet to be an accomplice to a crime:

Every person acting with the mental state required for the commission of an offense who directly commits the offense, who solicits, requests, commands, encourages, or intentionally aids another person to engage in conduct which constitutes an offense shall be criminally liable as a party for such conduct.

Here, while Ms. Hales did encourage appellant to procure the marijuana for her, she did not "engage in conduct which constitut[ed]" the same offense for which appellant is charged in the instant matter (distribution of a controlled substance not for value). "Conduct which constitutes" the same offense is necessary in order for a participant in a crime to be deemed an accomplice. In State v. Davie, 121 Utah 184, 240 P.2d 263 (1952) this requirement was clearly established:

We have construed the term [accomplice] to mean one who could be charged as a principal with the defendant on trial. State v. Fertig, Utah, 233 P.2d 347; State v. Bowman, 92 Utah 540, 79 P.2d 458, 111 A.L.R. 1393. This definition is generally recognized to be correct, see 22 C.J.S., Criminal Law, § 786, p. 1335; 14 Am.Jur., Criminal Law, § 110.

240 P.2d at 263-264.

To illustrate this point, respondent offers the following example: The principal in a "fencing" operation who seeks and buys stolen goods from thieves and burglars could not be said to be an accomplice with them in the numerous, isolated thefts or burglaries which the "suppliers" have committed. The operator's crime is the narrow offense of receiving, possessing and re-selling stolen property. The "suppliers'" crimes are those of theft, burglary or robbery. However, if the fencing operator actively participated with the thieves and burglars in the commission of the thefts, burglaries or robberies, then he would obviously be an accomplice.

Recently, this court has expanded the Davie definition of accomplice to include those actors who " . . . knowingly, voluntarily, and with common intent with the principal offender, [unite] in the commission of a crime, so that he could also be charged with the same offense." State v. Georgopoulos, 27 Utah 2d 53, 492 P.2d 1353, 1354 (1972). In accord, State v. Helm, 563 P.2d 794, 797 (Utah 1977).

Thus, in applying this additional requirement of "common intent" to the hypothetical above, comparison with the present case is apparent. The fencing operator could not be an accomplice with the thieves and burglars

because he did not have the requisite intent to commit theft, burglary or robbery—even though it could be said that he encouraged and even solicited crime. Likewise in the present case, Ms. Hales cannot be said to be an accomplice with appellant because she did not have the requisite intent to distribute marijuana not for value at the moment the drug was given to her from appellant. She only had intent to receive the marijuana.

Probably because of this very rationale this Court, in State v. Kasai, supra, ruled that "[t]he purchaser of narcotics is not an accomplice of the seller." 495 P.2d at 1266. (See further discussion of Kasai, infra.)

Section § 76-2-202, Utah Code Annotated (1953), as amended, (above quoted) has been relied upon in support of the proposition that such intent, as required by Georgopoulos is necessary in order for a participant to be found to be an accomplice. In State v. Comish, supra, the Court, after quoting § 76-2-202, stated:

Under that statute and under the generally accepted meaning of the term, an "accomplice" is one who participates in a crime in such a way that he could be charged and tried for the same offense. From that definition, it will be seen that it does not include a person who, without using inducement or persuasion which would amount to entrapment, merely provides an opportunity for one who is disposed to commit a crime. More specifically

applicable here, a person so acting under the direction of a peace officer in attempting to discover violations of law, is not an accomplice.

560 P.2d at 1136. In accord, State v. Kasai, supra.

Thus, in the instant case, since appellant's offense was distribution of a controlled substance to Ms. Hales, she could not have also been charged with distribution of a controlled substance wherein nothing of value is exchanged. She therefore cannot be found to be appellant's accomplice. Ms. Hales did not participate as a distributor of the controlled substance in the narrow transaction at issue here. Rather, she was the recipient of the controlled substance. Although this Court has retreated somewhat from this test of whether a participant could have been charged with the same offense as a basis of determining whether an accomplice status exists (see State v. Foust, 588 P.2d 170 (Utah 1978))¹,

1 Respondent notes further that the Foust case is an extreme case. The Court was there faced with determining whether appellant's 16 year old stepdaughter could be said to be his accomplice in the crime of incest. The Court ruled she was or could be an accomplice. Respondent suggests this case is an anomaly and is not in accord with the thrust of the other Utah cases on the subject of accomplice law, as cited herein.

it remains a useful starting point for an inquiry into a participant's connection with the crime.

In making such an inquiry, an important ruling by this Court in State v. Kasai, supra, is relevant.

Kasai holds:

The purchaser of narcotics is not an accomplice of the seller, as the offense of the purchaser is "possession" and not "selling"; and, therefore, the conviction of a defendant may be founded on the purchaser's uncorroborated testimony.

495 P.2d at 1266.

The analogy is easily made between the "purchaser" in Kasai and Ms. Hales -- a non-purchasing recipient -- in the instant case. And since Ms. Hales received the marijuana from appellant, she too can only be deemed to have been in possession of the drug. Thus, as Kasai holds, she cannot be found to be appellant's accomplice in the offense for which appellant was charged. In a similar ruling, the Court in State v. Washington, 25 Utah 2d 111, 476 P.2d 1019 (1970) rejected an appellant's claim that certain witnesses to a crime for which he was convicted were actually his accomplices.

In Washington, the defendant was convicted of receiving stolen property. Three other holders and possessors

of the stolen property testified at trial about the defendant's connection with the stolen goods. To defendant's contention that these three witnesses were his accomplices, the Court responded:

While these witnesses may have been guilty of similar offenses, the record fails to reveal that they in any way participated with the defendant in the crime here charged against him.

476 P.2d at 1021.

The same rationale is applicable in the present case. Merely because Ms. Hales "may have been guilty of similar offenses "of which appellant was herein convicted (i.e., possession or distribution to Mr. Wiseman), such a fact, can not, without more, automatically result in her being deemed appellant's accomplice. Rather, Washington requires that appellant must do more than assert that Ms. Hales may have committed similar crimes in order for her participation in the crime charged to appellant to reach an accomplice level; i.e., he must show that she "participated with the defendant in the crime charged." Id., emphasis added.

Scrutiny of the facts shows that Ms. Hales' participation did not reach such a level. Appellant's

attorney, on cross examination of Ms. Hales, elicited the following:

Q. And Craig Wiseman took the initiative to call you on the 20th?

A. Yes.

Q. And Mr. Befg [sic] was not aware of that phone call in the sense that he was not present and was not aware of when it was made?

A. No.

Q. And he did not authorize you to talk with Mr. Wiseman in any way?

A. No.

Q. This was your deal and Mr. Wiseman's deal, in a sense, and it was a conversation between the two of you?

A. Right.

Tr. 25-26 (Emphasis added.)

Thus, Ms. Hales' planning, solicitation, encouragement and intent to commit a crime was not with appellant, but was with Mr. Wiseman. Thus, Ms. Hales' major participation in this entire series of drug transactions, is with Mr. Wiseman, and not with appellant. As to the specific crime at issue here, Ms. Hales acted only as a receiving agent or conduit for Mr. Wiseman, without appellant's knowledge of the prearranged plan. Thus, under the Davie, Kasai and Washington

tests, she cannot be an accomplice of appellant even though she may have engaged in similar drug-related conduct. Her intent was not to distribute marijuana not for value. This conclusion is further supported by two Utah Supreme Court cases: State v. Gee, 28 Utah 2d 96, 498 P.2d 662 (1972) and State v. Helm, *supra*.

In Gee, the appellant argued that two witnesses to his acts of child abuse (which led to the child's death) were in fact his accomplices. This Court disagreed and ruled:

Defendant's assertion is without merit. The baby died of head injuries; there is not a scintilla of evidence to indicate the witnesses advised, instigated, encouraged or assisted defendant in the perpetration of this crime. Furthermore, mere presence combined with knowledge that a crime is about to be committed, where the person contributes nothing to the doing of the act, will not itself constitute one an accomplice.

498 P.2d at 665 (Emphasis added.)

In Helm, the appellant made a similar argument. He claimed that two witnesses, junior officers in the Highway Patrol, who were present at the scene of a crime he was convicted of were actually his accomplices.

In rejecting the claim, this Court held:

To establish that predicate, it would have to appear that the officers knowingly, voluntarily and intentionally united with the defendant and aided, abetted, or encouraged in the commission of the crime. Moreover, the mere presence where a crime is being committed, or about to be committed, without such an intent to join therein, being shown, is not sufficient to find that one is an accomplice.

563 P.2d at 797.

Ms. Hales' actions in the instant case similarly, do not support a claim that she was appellant's accomplice. Merely because she was present at the scene of the crime and had knowledge that a criminal act was about to be committed is not sufficient to find that she was an accomplice. Furthermore, as Helm establishes, where it appears that Ms. Hales did not unite with appellant in the commission of the specific crime appellant is charged with, then the accomplice claim of appellant must be rejected.

Respondent submits that a careful review of the facts in this matter coupled with an application of the relevant case law show that Judge Ballif correctly ruled that Ms. Hales was not and can not be deemed appellant's accomplice in the narrow crime under review.

POINT II

ASSUMING, ARGUENDO,
THAT JILL HALES WAS APPEL-
LANT'S ACCOMPLICE, SUFFI-
CIENT ADDITIONAL EVIDENCE,
WHICH CONNECTED APPELLANT
WITH THE COMMISSION OF THE
CRIME, WAS PRESENTED AT
TRIAL TO SATISFY THE ACCOM-
PLICE STATUTE'S REQUIREMENT
OF CORROBORATION.

Respondent again asserts the fact that Judge Ballif determined that Ms. Hales was not an accomplice in the crime at issue here and that consequently corroboration is not relevant. But inasmuch as appellant has claimed that insufficient corroboration evidence was presented at trial and should this Court rule that Ms. Hales was an accomplice, this Point is necessary.

Utah Code Ann. § 77-31-18 (1953) as amended,
(pre - May 8, 1979) provided:

A conviction shall not be had on the testimony of an accomplice, unless he is corroborated by other evidence, which in itself and without the aid of the testimony of the accomplice tends to connect the defendant with the commission of the offense; and the corroboration shall not be sufficient, if it merely shows the commission of the offense or the circumstances thereof.

Thus, if Ms. Hales were an accomplice, corroboration

of her testimony must be presented before a conviction of appellant can be sustained. At trial, two witnesses in addition to Ms. Hales testified concerning the events of November 20 and 21, 1978: Teri Barney and Craig Wiseman. Ms. Barney testified concerning her visit with Ms. Hales to appellant's home on November 21, 1978, and the subsequent activities at the Golden Spike Restaurant (Tr.43-49). Mr. Wiseman testified regarding his request of Ms. Hales on November 20, 1978, to procure marijuana for him and the manner in which the drug was later delivered and payment made. (Tr.52-58). Respondent contends that even if Ms. Hales' role in this crime can be construed as that of an accomplice, these two witnesses sufficiently support her testimony to satisfy the statutory and case law requirements of corroboration.

The landmark corroboration case in Utah is State v. Erwin, 101 Utah 365, 120 P.2d 285 (1941). Here the Utah Court interpreted § 105-32-18, (Rev. St. 1933) -- an identical corroboration statute to the one above quoted -- and held:

. . . corroboration need not go to all the material facts testified to by the accomplice. [Citation omitted]; that the corroborative evidence need not be sufficient in itself to support a conviction; it may be slight and entitled to little consideration. [Citations omitted].

On the other hand, the corroborating evidence must implicate the defendant in the offense and be consistent with his guilt and inconsistent with his innocence, and must do more than cast a grave suspicion on him, and all of this must be without the aid of the testimony of the accomplice. [Citations omitted].

120 P.2d at 299.

The Court further defined the standards for corroborative testimony by holding that:

In order to sustain a conviction, the evidence . . . must be of such persuasive force that the mind might be reasonably satisfied of all the necessary facts constituting the defendant's guilt beyond any reasonable doubt; and where the proof of a necessary fact is dependent solely upon circumstantial evidence, such circumstances must be such as to reasonably exclude every reasonable hypothesis other than the existence of such fact and be consistent with its non-existence. It is not necessary that each circumstance in itself establish the guilt of the defendant, but the whole chain of circumstances, taken together, must produce the required proof.

120 P.2d at 302.

In accord, State v. Bruner, 106 Utah 49, 145 P.2d 302 (1944), State v. Vigil, 123 Utah 495, 260 P.2d 539 (1953), and State v. Baron, 25 Utah 2d 16, 474 P.2d 728 (1970).

Applying these standards to the present case, the testimony of Ms. Barney and Mr. Wiseman satisfy the outlined requirements. Even if their testimony can be considered as not "[going] to all the material facts testified to by" Ms. Hales, would not "be sufficient in itself to support a conviction" and both are "slight and entitled to little consideration," the testimonies are, nonetheless, adequate as corroborative evidence. Erwin holds that such evidence, while perhaps insufficient by itself to convict, meets the test of sufficiency for corroborative evidence purposes. That is, the testimony is sufficient if it "implicate[s] the defendant," is "consistent with his guilt" and "do[es] more than cast a grave suspicion on him." Respondent contends that these requirements have been met here. Ms. Barney's testimony placing Ms. Hales in appellant's home on the day in question, supported Ms. Hales testimony regarding the distribution of the marijuana to Mr. Wiseman and thereby implicated appellant in the instant offense. Mr. Wiseman verified Ms. Hales' testimony as to his initiating the procurement of the marijuana and substantiated the evidence as to the method of distributing the drug as Ms. Hales

testified. This linking corroboration satisfies the statute and the case law.

These requirements outlined in Erwin were stated in a similar manner in State v. Clark, 3 Utah 2d 382, 284 P.2d 700 (1955):

* * * It has been uniformly held that the test of the sufficiency of the corroborating evidence is that it need not be sufficient in itself to sustain a conviction, but it must in and of itself tend to implicate and connect the accused with the commission of the crime charged, and not be consistent with his innocence.

284 P.2d at 701, quoting State v. Cragun, 85 Utah 149, 158, 38 P.2d 1071, 1075 (1934). Clark, therefore, holds that the generally accepted rule of corroboration is that it need not be independently adequate to convict a defendant, but it must tend to implicate him with the crime and not be consistent with his innocence. Such requirements are satisfied here.

In State v. Sinclair, 15 Utah 2d 162, 389 P.2d 465 (1964), this court was faced with evaluating the sufficiency of certain corroborative evidence in a murder case. After discussing the facts of the case and analyzing the testimony given, the Court stated:

It may well be that certain of the foregoing facets of the evidence, considered separately, could be regarded as not inculpatory and thus be vulnerable to defendant's charge that it does not connect her with the crime. But that is neither the sensible nor the practical approach to the problem. Nor does the law require that the separate bits of evidence be viewed in isolation. A great many crimes are planned to be committed by stealth and in secret, as this one was. It is necessary and proper to take whatever fragments of proof can be found and piece them together in conjunction with the reasonable inferences to be drawn therefrom in order to fill in the whole mosaic of the crime. We are cognizant that our statute uses the language "without the aid of the testimony of the accomplice" and that it has been said that the corroborative evidence should be looked at separate and apart from his testimony. That is true to determine whether there is some independent evidence which tends to connect the defendant with the crime. But it is also true that the evidence can only have relevancy to the crime as it relates to the circumstances surrounding it.

389 P.2d at 469 (emphasis in original).

This broadened construction of sufficient corroborative evidence was then illustrated with a hypothetical:

Conceding the wisdom and propriety of being wary of the testimony of an accomplice, and of not permitting a conviction to rest solely upon it, nevertheless, reason dictates

that the practical exigencies of a situation may well require that all of the circumstances be viewed together in order to determine the facts. For example: witnesses see X coming from the woods. He has a knife and is smeared with blood. Considered alone, this could well be innocent. He may have killed a deer. But the body of a man, recently killed by stabbing, is found nearby. An accomplice to the murder states that he and X did it. It is obvious that the observations that were made of X near the time and place of the murder, considered in the light of the later-discovered facts, take on a different significance and could reasonably be regarded as tending to connect X with the crime. The same reasoning applies to the instant case. The corroborative evidence should be considered in relation to the other facts shown. When this is done it seems undoubted that it could be accepted by reasonable minds as evidence of substance and probative value tending to connect the defendant with this crime. This satisfies the requirement of the law.

389 P.2d at 469. In accord, State v. Kitchen, 564 P.2d 760, 762 (Utah 1977).

The same logic is applicable in the case at bar. While Ms. Barney's and Mr. Wiseman's testimonies viewed in isolation could be considered deficient for conviction, when "the whole mosaic of the crime" is analysed, the testimonies effectively and adequately corroborate Ms. Hales'

testimony. Furthermore, when the evidence is "considered in relation to the other facts shown," reasonable minds can determine that the testimonies of Ms. Barney and Mr. Wiseman probatively connect appellant to the crime. While Ms. Barney may have only seen the circumstantial events on November 21, 1978 and Mr. Wiseman the end product of his request of Ms. Hales, taken together the two witnesses' testimonies meet the requirements for corroboration.

State v. Christean, 533 P.2d 872 (Utah 1975), re-states this Sinclair rule:

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